FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/18/2018 3:47 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/18/2018
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

95974-9

COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION 1

ACCESS THE USA., LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,
520 BRIDGE REPLACEMENT FUND II, LP, a Washington Limited
Partnership and PREMIER 520 BRIDGE REPLACEMENT FUND II, LP,
a Washington Limited Partnership,

Appellants

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, a government entity; THE OFFICE
OF THE TREASURER, a government entity and agency of the State of
Washington; and CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS, a New York
corporation,

Respondents.

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND CITATION.

Appellants Access the USA, LLC, 520 Bridge Replacement Fund II, LP and Premier 520 Bridge Replacement Fund II, LP, respectfully petition the Supreme Court to grant discretionary review of *Access the USA, LLC v. State*, No. 75747-4-I, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 760 (Ct. App. Apr. 9, 2018).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

- A. Does the privilege relied upon by the Court of Appeals conflicts with Supreme Court precedent?
- B. Did an enforceable contract exist for Citigroup to attempt to onboard the Appellants, and if successful, to present their orders?
- C. Does a promise have to be “clear and definite” before its actionable?
- D. Was the Appellants’ intended transaction with Citigroup so unique as to preclude any recovery under the Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

A. Introduction.

This case arises from a concerted effort by the Office of the State Treasurer (“OST”) to prevent Chinese investment in replacing the SR 520 Bridge. Acting on unfounded and jingoistic concerns, Deputy Treasurer Ellen Evans repeatedly directed Citigroup’s brokers and underwriters to perform intensive due diligence into the Appellants, suggesting they were criminals or wrongdoers. In doing so, Ms. Evans exceeded her lawful authority and tortiously interfered in a valid commercial transaction. As result of Ms. Evans’s conduct and Citigroup’s acquiescence, the Appellants were unable to present orders for approximately \$142 million

in 2012F GARVEE bonds.¹ OST and Citigroup's tortious conduct was ultimately successful, and Appellants' orders were never presented, leaving \$38 million in Washington State bonds unsold.

This case also arises from the Court of Appeals's misinterpretation of authority. At the trial and appellate levels, Appellants have demonstrated that material questions of fact exist regarding OST and Citigroup's conduct, and that dismissal and summary judgement were inappropriate. By disregarding OST and Citigroup's wrongful conduct, the Court of Appeals opens the door to future discrimination against visa-applicants and EB-5 investors in Washington investments. In addition, the Court of Appeals has incorrectly defined the authority of state officials to act on unfounded concerns to obstruct valid commercial transactions.

Because this case presents both matters of the public interest and the Court of Appeals's decision is in conflict with published authority, review by the Supreme Court is warranted.

B. Factual History.

The EB-5 Immigrant Investor Program ("EB-5") provides qualified foreign investors and their families a method to obtain residency in the United States. CP 1584. The EB-5 Program is administered by the United States Citizenship and Immigration Service ("USCIS"). CP 1584. EB-5 investments are prepared and marketed by USCIS-approved

¹ Appellants do not argue that the April 9, 2012 agreement required Citigroup's underwriters to fulfill their orders, but merely required Citigroup's traders to attempt onboarding, and if completed, to present the 2012F LPs' bond orders to the underwriters.

“regional centers.” CP 1584-85. Appellant Access the USA, LLC (“Access”) is a USCIS-approved regional center. CP 1585. Access is managed by Michael Mattox, a resident of Olympia, WA. CP 1585. In 2009, Mr. Mattox developed an investment model which qualified municipal bonds for the EB-5 Program. CP 1585.

In 2011 and 2012, the State of Washington issued bonds to fund replacement of the State Route 520 bridge (“520 Bridge.”). CP 1585. These issuances were managed by OST, specifically Deputy Treasurer for Debt Management Ellen Evans. CP 1716. Ms. Evans was the bond underwriters’ primary contact at OST. CP 1716.

Two offerings are relevant to this action: 2012C (October 2011) and 2012F (May 2012). For these offerings, OST selected J.P. Morgan (“JPM”), Bank of America-Merrill Lynch, and Citigroup Global Markets (“Citigroup”), to serve as underwriters. CP 1585. For 2012C, JPM was selected to serve as “Senior Underwriter” and was responsible for managing orders and allocating bonds. CP 1779. Mr. Mattox worked with JPM to “onboard” two limited partnerships created by Access to participate in the 2012C offering (the “2012C LPs”).² JPM completed onboarding in twenty-one days. CP 1586. On October 13, 2011, the 2012C LPs ordered \$47.7 million in 2012C bonds. CP 1849.

Shortly before the 2012C issuance, Ms. Evans requested JPM to put Mr. Mattox and his companies “through their paces” by performing

² “Onboarding” is an industry term used to describe the process of performing due diligence and opening accounts for new financial clients. CP 1588.

more intensive and rigorous due diligence. CP 1769-73, 1721. Ms. Evans had never made this request before. CP 1770, 1736. Despite Ms. Evans' direction, JPM allocated the 2012C LPs' their full bond orders. CP 1849.

In late 2011, Access began preparing the next 520 Bridge offering, designated "2012F", scheduled for May 2012. CP 1588, 1744. Access formed two new limited partnerships: 520 Bridge Replacement Fund II and Premier 520 Bridge Replacement Fund II (the "2012F LPs.") CP 1587. After learning Access would participate in 2012F, Ms. Evans commented "I hope [JPM's] compliance folks and screeners do their work thoroughly." CP 1659-60. In April 2012, OST selected Citigroup as Senior Underwriter for 2012F, and JPM recommended the 2012F LPs onboard at Citigroup. CP 1777-78.

To accomplish this, Mr. Mattox was connected with John Leahy, Citigroup's Director of Institutional Sales. CP 1782. On April 9, 2012, Mr. Mattox and Mr. Leahy spoke by telephone. CP 1588. Mr. Mattox explained the 2012F LPs' investment structure and estimated the 2012F LPs would order \$120-150 million in 2012F bonds. CP 1588. During the call, Mr. Leahy agreed to onboard the Appellants and present their orders if the orders were placed with him. CP 1233. Mr. Leahy re-confirmed seven days later that Citigroup would onboard the Appellants. CP 1859.

To facilitate onboarding, Access executed a Management Group/Grandparent Form ("MGGP") which it submitted on April 30, 2012 with Appellants' governance documents. CP 1867, 1870-77. This

onboarding application identified Access's ownership structure, involvement in the EB-5 Program, and that bonds would be purchased with "mostly Chinese funds for citizenship." CP 1872. This application was approved by John Leahy and his supervisor, Thomas Rasmussen, by May 11, 2012.³

On April 20, 2012, JPM confirmed to Ms. Evans that Access intended to participate in the 2012F Offering. CP 1664-65. In response, Ms. Evans contacted Citigroup's banker in Seattle, Jerry Bobo. CP 1745-46. Ms. Evans and Mr. Bobo regularly worked together on OST transactions with Citigroup over a twenty-year period. CP 1741-42. Ms. Evans expressed concerns about Mr. Mattox to Jerry Bobo. CP 1731-32. Through Mr. Bobo, Ms. Evans instructed Citigroup to perform additional rigorous due diligence into Mr. Mattox and his companies. Ms. Evans later claimed multiple bases for these warnings, including ignorance of EB-5's requirements (CP 1722-23), her personal suspicions of Mr. Mattox (CP 1733, 1748), and her favoritism of conventional investors (CP 1729-30).⁴

On May 3, 2012, Mr. Leahy sent an email regarding the 2012F LPs to Citigroup's brokers, underwriters, and bankers, including Jerry Bobo. CP 1666-69. Mr. Bobo quickly responded and offered to provide background on Mr. Mattox via telephone, characterizing the orders as a

³ Citigroup's anti-money laundering personnel approved Access' MGGP on May 18, 2012, effectively completing the due diligence process. CP 1877. However, Citigroup never submitted due diligence requests for the 2012F LPs, the entities placing the orders.

⁴ When contacted by the Federal Bureau of Investigation ("FBI") regarding financing of the 520 Bridge Replacement, Ms. Evans, unprovoked, provided them Mr. Mattox's name and noted that Access "...was different, and we didn't know what it was about." CP 2000-1. The FBI never contacted her again. CP 1030.

“nightmare.” *Id.* After speaking with the other Citigroup executives, Mr. Bobo communicated to Ms. Evans that Citigroup would carefully examine Mr. Mattox. CP 1748. Mr. Bobo later testified he had “no clue” whether Ms. Evans’ concerns about the Appellants were legitimate. CP 1749.

On May 4, 2012, Mr. Leahy confirmed to Mr. Mattox that Citigroup was onboarding the 2012F LPs. Mr. Leahy had delegated the onboarding to John Sullivan, another Citigroup broker. CP 1671-73, 1675. Mr. Sullivan did not submit the onboarding request until May 11, 2012, and never submitted onboarding requests for the 2012F LPs. In his personal notes during this time, Mr. Leahy noted “[Thomas Rasmussen, Citigroup Broker] not comfortable w/ account yet.” CP 1688.

On May 18, 2012, Mr. Leahy notified Mr. Mattox that Citigroup had not completed the onboarding. CP 1690, 1692. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Leahy promised the accounts would be open that day. CP 1696. After this exchange, John Sullivan re-submitted the onboarding request, noting: “we are trying to book a trade today. If not, we lose the account and they will trade with competitor...what takes so long?” CP 1685-86. As before, the onboarding request was only for Access, not the 2012F LPs.

As result of Mr. Leahy’s May 18, 2012 emails and statements, Mr. Mattox began executing a contingency for LPL Financial, another financial firm, to present the 2012F LPs’ bond orders. CP 1590, 1683, 1690, 1692, 1696. Mr. Leahy told Mr. Mattox that Citigroup would accept the 2012F LPs’ orders if presented by LPL Financial. CP 1590-1.

On Monday, May 21, 2012, Mr. Leahy called Mr. Mattox to confirm the next day's bond sale. CP 1591, 1761-62. After this call, Mr. Leahy emailed Citigroup executives for permission to continue opening Access's account. CP 1698. Mr. Leahy then forwarded the email to Citigroup trader J.P. Connellan. *Id.*

Later that same day, Scott Karmazin of LPL Financial called J.P. Connellan to place the 2012F LPs' orders. CP 1791-93, 1700. Mr. Karmazin provided Mr. Connellan with details of the bond orders. CP 1791-93. Ten minutes later, Mr. Connellan called Mr. Karmazin back and told him that Citigroup would not accept the 2012F LPs' orders. *Id.* When Karmazin asked why, Connellan said, "This is not my call or my decision, but Citi will not accept the offer." *Id.*

Citigroup and OST's decision to exclude the 2012F LPs from the 2012F Offering is evidenced by the notes of Ms. Evan's assistant, Kate Manley. CP 2089-94. Ms. Manley's notes, taken during a conference call between OST and the Underwriters on May 21, 2012 (75 minutes after Mr. Karmazin's attempt to place the 2012F LPs' orders), lists nearly all of the eventual 2012F participants, including US Trust, which purchased 0.2% of the 2012F Offering. *Id.* The Appellants are not listed. *Id.*

Citigroup's underwriters fulfilled orders by allocating bonds between 10:00 a.m. and 12:00 p.m. EDT on May 22, 2012. CP 1702. During that period, Mr. Bobo and Ms. Evans observed from an adjoining conference room and received regular updates. CP 1752, 1727, 1804-07.

In that room, Mr. Bobo, Ms. Evans and Citigroup's lead underwriter discussed Mr. Mattox. CP 1751.

After learning on May 22, 2012 that Citigroup had rejected the orders, Mr. Mattox contacted Mr. Leahy. Mr. Leahy responded, "Mike, you are just going to have to get another bond. There will be other bonds." CP 1592. Mr. Leahy then told Mr. Mattox "[t]here is nothing I can do. Things are going on in the back room that I can't tell you about, you are not getting your bonds. You've got to move on, get another bond." *Id.* Because of EB-5's requirements, the 2012F LPs could only purchase 2012F Bonds, a fact Mr. Mattox had repeatedly explained to Mr. Leahy. *Id.* At Mr. Leahy's suggestion, Mr. Mattox contacted OST, who directed Mr. Mattox back to Citigroup. CP 1855-56. In effect, both Citigroup and OST blamed the other.

In the end, Citigroup was unable to sell \$38 million bonds and was forced to purchase them itself. CP 1806-07. Two days later, Citigroup sold these 2012F bonds on the less-preferred secondary market.

C. Procedural History.

This action was filed on May 16, 2014. In February 2015, the trial court dismissed Appellant's Consumer Protection Act ("CPA") claim. On August 8, 2016, the trial court granted Citigroup and OST's Motions for Summary Judgment and dismissed Appellants' claims with prejudice. On September 8, 2016, Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration was denied.

On September 1, 2016, Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal to the

Court of Appeals – Division I. After the Parties’ submitted briefs and presented oral arguments, Division I issued its decision on April 9, 2018, affirming the trial court’s rulings. The Appellants submitted a Motion for Reconsideration, which was denied on May 17, 2018.

IV. ARGUMENT.

Under RAP 13.4(b), the Supreme Court will grant discretionary review if a decision conflicts with Supreme Court or published Court of Appeals authority, or if it presents an issue of substantial public interest.

A. The Court of Appeals’s Decision Promulgates the Utilization of a Privilege that Has No Foundation in the Law and Has Been Implicitly Overruled by this Court.

The genesis of the illusory “privilege” that OST claims was extended to claims for tortious interference by *Stidham v. State, Dept. of Licensing*,⁵ and which the Court of Appeals applied to the instant case,⁶ relied upon the immunity case *Moloney v. Tribune Pub. Co.*⁷ for the creation of the “privilege.” Namely, *Stidham* relied on *Moloney v. Tribune Publishing Co.*⁸ for the proposition that a defense of privilege applicable to defamation is also applicable to a claim for the tort of outrage. *Stidham*, 30 Wn. App. at 616. Setting aside the fact that *Moloney* has been overruled by this Court,⁹ *Moloney* never stood for this

⁵ 30 Wn. App. 611.

⁶ The Court of Appeals attempts to gloss over the privilege *Stidham* created by citing a number of cases that all refer back to *Stidham* as their only foundation for the privilege. The Court of Appeals has allowed this privilege to metastasize to its current form by relying on similar cursory statements bereft of supporting reasoning, beginning with *Stidham* itself. *Stidham* is the elephant in the room that the Court of Appeals has used to trample valid claims for thirty years.

⁷ 26 Wn. App. 357.

⁸ 26 Wn. App. 357, 613 P.2d 1179 (1980).

⁹ *Chambers-Castanes v. King County*, 100 Wn.2d 275, 283, 669 P.2d 451 (1983).

proposition.

In *Moloney*, the plaintiff sued Pierce County under the tort of outrage and the Tacoma News Tribune (“Tribune”) for invasion of privacy. 26 Wn. App. at 358. The *Moloney* Court, in the portion of the decision that was expressly overruled by this Court in *Chambers-Castanes v. King Cnty.*,¹⁰ held that Pierce County was **immune, not privileged**, from the tort of outrage. *Moloney*. 26 Wn. App. at 360. It is essential to note that the court engaged in **no defamation or privilege analysis** as it pertained to the County in *Moloney*. The court did analyze the reporting of the Tacoma News Tribune under the defamation standard, but this was an analysis of privilege for the press. *Id.* 26 Wn. App. at 361 (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 611, comment c)(“The privilege stated in this section is a qualified privilege commonly exercised by newspapers, broadcasting stations, and others who are in the business of reporting news to the public.”) Crucially, no privilege was applied to the government in *Moloney*, only immunity.

With respect to immunity and why *Moloney* was overruled, Washington law has “recognized a narrowly circumscribed exception to [the abolishment of sovereign immunity] in instances involving high level discretionary acts exercised at a truly executive level.” *Chambers*, 100 Wn.2d at 281 (citing *Evangelical United Brethren Church of Adna v. State*, 67 Wn.2d 246, 407 P.2d 440 (1965)). “A governmental entity’s

¹⁰ This Court overruled the *Moloney* Court holding that it had gone too far with its application of immunity/privilege. 100 Wn.2d at 283.

exercise of discretionary acts at a basic policy level is immune from suit, whereas the exercise of discretionary acts at an operational level is not.” *Chambers*, 100 Wn.2d at 282 (citing *Mason v. Bitton*, 85 Wn.2d 321, 534 P.2d 1360 (1975)).

This Court overruled *Moloney* to the extent that the county was immune because its actions were discretionary acts at an operational level and not at an executive policy level. *Chambers*, 100 Wn.2d at 283. Thus, any analysis of the defenses of immunity or privilege as they apply to the government in *Moloney* have been expressly overruled. Ms. Evans’s interference with Appellants’ business relationship with Citigroup was a discretionary act at an operational level based on jingoistic motivations and enjoys no privilege or immunity.

The only case that *Stidham*¹¹ cites for the proposition that a privilege defense for defamation is equally applicable to claims of tortious interference is *Moloney* and that portion of *Moloney* has been expressly overruled. *Chambers*, 100 Wn.2d at 283. *Stidham* is a zombie, wandering through our Courts of Appeals for thirty years. It is time for the Supreme Court to put *Stidham* to rest and hold that there is no government privilege to tortiously interfere with the business relations of individuals or companies.

In sum, the Court of Appeals affirmed a privilege that does not exist. The privilege conflicts with *Chambers Castanes v. King Cnty.*,

¹¹ 30 Wn. App. at 616.

which overruled *Moloney v. Tribune Pub. Co.* and is the only case that *Stidham v. State, Dept. of Licensing* cites in extending the non-existent government privilege to tortious interference. *Stidham* has been cited for this overruled proposition by Washington Courts of Appeals at least thirteen times and has been relied on at the Superior Court level countless times.¹²

B. There is No Clear Consensus Regarding When an Enforceable Contract Is Formed, When Custom Is to Leave Details Open Until the Transaction Date.

Appellants argue that an enforceable contract was formed during the April 9, 2012 telephone call between Mr. Mattox and Mr. Leahy. In that call, Mr. Mattox described Access' investment model and the need for Citigroup to present the 2012F LPs' bond orders. Mr. Mattox later summarized the agreement as "...we would use Citigroup as the underwriter, broker-dealer to obtain bonds for us." CP 705. In response, Mr. Leahy agreed to onboard the Appellants and present their orders, in exchange for placing the orders with him. CP 706, 1233. No other details remained unnegotiated.

In the Decision, the Court of Appeals dismissed this argument, finding that discussions between Mr. Mattox and Mr. Leahy were "preliminary negotiations and information discussions." Slip Op. 15. To support this ruling, the Court noted that Mr. Leahy lacked authority to promise to onboard the 2012F LPs, and that presentation of the orders was

¹² None of the cases citing *Stidham* have dealt with a standalone claim for tortious interference that is not accompanied by a dominant tort claim such as defamation.

contingent on completion of due diligence.¹³ *Id.* In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeals focused on Mr. Leahy's prospective statements, rather than his objective agreement to act.

Under Washington's objective theory of contracts, if a party's words or acts, judged by a reasonable standard, manifest an intention to agree, a binding agreement may result even if the subjective intent was otherwise. *Barnes v. Treece*, 15 Wash. App. 437, 549 P.2d 1152 (1976) (public offer made by vice president of punchboard corporation to pay \$100,000 to anyone who could find a crooked punchboard was binding offer even though intended as a joke). To differentiate between an actual offer and a mere opinion, the court must look to what a reasonable person would conclude. Calamari & Perillo, *Contracts* § 2.6, at 30 (6th ed. 2009). Here, Mr. Mattox reasonably believed that he was entering an enforceable agreement with Citigroup, because he had previously reached an agreement with JPM for 2012C.

The Court of Appeals's cited authority to support of its conclusion is distinguishable. Most occur in settings where details are orally negotiated in expectation of executing a written agreement. *Pac. Cascade Corp. v. Nimmer*, 25 Wn. App. 552, 554, 608 P.2d 266, 268 (1980) (parties negotiating thirty-year commercial lease agreement); *BP W. Coast*

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