FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/27/2018 2:42 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 95974-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ACCESS THE USA., LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company; 520 BRIDGE REPLACEMENT FUND II, LP, a Washington Limited Partnership; and PREMIER 520 BRIDGE REPLACEMENT FUND II, LP, a Washington Limited Partnership,

Appellants,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, a government entity; THE OFFICE OF THE TREASURER, a government entity and agency of the State of Washington; and CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS, a New York corporation,

Respondents.

STATE DEFENDANTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Access argues that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's precedent and involves a matter of substantial public interest supporting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 13.4(b)(4). As explained below, the decision does neither. Moreover, while Access focuses exclusively on the issue of privilege, privilege was an independent and secondary basis upon which the trial court *could have* granted summary judgment. The Court of Appeals, however, neither analyzed nor used the issue of privilege to affirm dismissal. Regardless, nothing in the trial court's order of dismissal nor the unpublished Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with this Court's decisions, and this Court should deny review.

A. Even if This Court Were to Reach the Privilege Issue Raised in the Petition, the Tortious Interference Claims Are Properly Dismissed on That Basis Alone

Even had Access been able to establish the elements of a tortious interference claim, that claim could not have survived summary judgment because the State Defendants' actions were privileged as a matter of law. This Court has long recognized the availability of a privilege defense in tortious interference claims. *See*, *e.g.*, *Calbom v. Knudtzon*, 65 Wn.2d 157, 162, 396 P.2d 148 (1964). Moreover, statements that are privileged under

the law of defamation are equally privileged under the law of interference with prospective economic advantage. *Lawson v. Boeing Co.*, 58 Wn. App. 261, 269, 792 P.2d 545 (1990).

1. State Defendants' comments were absolutely privileged

High ranking state officials are privileged to make statements related to their official duties. This privilege has been applied many times to claims that government officials harmed plaintiffs through their comments. A claim of tortious interference with prospective advantage and a claim of defamation are both subject to this defense. *Stidham v. State, Dep't of Licensing*, 30 Wn. App. 611, 615-16, 637 P.2d 970 (1981). "Courts allow privilege to invade a plaintiff's interest in furtherance of a social interest of greater public import." *Id.* at 616.

The Stidham Court explained this social interest by quoting Barr v. Matteo, 360 U.S. 564, 571, 79 S. Ct. 1335, 3 L. Ed. 2d 1434 (1959):

The reasons for the recognition of the privilege have been often stated. It has been thought important that officials of government should be free to exercise their duties unembarrassed by the fear of damage suits in respect of acts done in the course of those duties—suits which would consume time and energies which would otherwise be devoted to governmental service and the threat of which might appreciably inhibit the fearless, vigorous, and effective administration of policies of government.

Stidham, 30 Wn. App. at 616. In keeping with this policy, Washington courts have adopted an absolute privilege for executive and administrative officers, including agency heads, and their assistants. See Gold Seal

Chinchillas, Inc. v. State, 69 Wn.2d 828, 420 P.2d 698 (1996); Haueter v. Cowles Publ'g Co., 61 Wn. App. 572, 578, 811 P.2d 231 (1991); Stidham, 30 Wn. App. at 612. As here, the privilege applies if the acts are within the scope of the official's duties and have more than a tenuous relation to that person's official capacity. Stidham, 30 Wn. App. at 614.

It is undisputed that Ellen Evans, as Deputy Treasurer, is a high-ranking State official. *See* CP 1072, 1073 (Mattox testifying that Ms. Evans "is a person of high authority" and agreeing that she is "a state executive with statewide responsibilities"). CP 1028. And RCW 43.08.120 defines the Deputy Treasurer as a high-ranking executive in State government with broad authority: "The state treasurer may appoint an assistant state treasurer, who shall have the power to perform any act or duty which may be performed by the state treasurer..." Whatever comments Ms. Evans may have made to the underwriters were made in her official position as a "high authority." It is entirely consistent with precedent to hold the Deputy Treasurer's expressions of concern in this case to be absolutely privileged.

2. If not absolutely privileged, State Defendants' comments were qualifiedly privileged

If not absolutely privileged, State Defendants' statements were qualifiedly privileged because even low-ranking public officials enjoy a

qualified privilege to speak freely in performing their duties. Wood v. Battle Ground Sch. Dist., 107 Wn. App. 550, 569, 27 P.3d 1208 (2001); Restatement (Second) of Torts §598A (1977). Unlike the absolute privilege described above, a qualified privilege can be overcome if a plaintiff can show actual malice—i.e., the speaker's knowledge that the statement was false or the speaker's reckless disregard as to its truth or falsity. Doe v. Gonzaga Univ., 143 Wn.2d 687, 703, 24 P.3d 390 (2001), rev'd on other grounds, Gonzaga Univ. v. Doe, 536 U.S. 273, 122 S. Ct. 2268, 153 L. Ed. 2d 309 (2002).

A plaintiff must prove actual malice by clear and convincing evidence. *Duc Tan v. Le*, 177 Wn.2d 649, 668, 300 P.3d 356 (2013). Whether evidence is sufficient to show actual malice is a question of law. *Id.* at 668-69. In this case, there has never been any evidence of actual malice, much less convincingly clear evidence. Access has complained only that Ms. Evans did not confer with Access as it would have hoped. *See CP* 1074-77. Failure to confer does not constitute actual malice. *See Herron v. KING Broad. Co.*, 112 Wn.2d 762, 777, 776 P.2d 98 (1989). Because there is no evidence of knowing falsity or reckless disregard for the truth, Ms. Evans' statements were privileged. The tortious interference claim cannot stand and dismissal on that ground would be consistent with precedent had the Court of Appeals addressed it.

3. The law of privilege in Washington is well-supported by precedent

Access takes issue with the *Stidham* case and argues that it wrongly relies on *Moloney v. Tribune Publ'g Co.*, 26 Wn. App. 357, 613 P.2d 1179 (1980), to reach its holding regarding privilege because *Moloney* has been "overruled." *See* Petition at 9-12. Access misstates the legal principle for which this Court disapproved of *Moloney*.

The Court of Appeals in *Moloney* found it necessary to address only two issues:

first, whether Pierce County and its employees are immune from liability for mistakes made in the course of criminal investigations and the disclosure of investigation information; and *second*, whether the Tribune is protected from liability for publishing a substantially accurate summary of the county's investigation report concerning an event of immediate public interest.

Moloney, 26 Wn. App. at 358 (emphasis added). That Court found police officers were entitled to discretionary immunity (first issue) and the Tribune's publication was privileged (second issue).

Access cites *Chambers-Castanes v. King Cty.*, 100 Wn.2d 275, 669 P.2d 451 (1983), for the proposition that *Moloney* has been "overruled" in a way that is relevant here. *See* Petition at 9-12. Access, however, takes the Court's holding in *Chambers-Castanes* too far. Factually, *Chambers-Castanes* involved King County Sheriff's Office's alleged "failure to respond in a proper and timely manner to appellants'

call for assistance." *Chambers-Castanes*, 100 Wn.2d at 277. The defendants in that case asserted, among other things, the defense of discretionary immunity. *Id.* at 282-83.

In reaching its decision related to the discretionary immunity doctrine, the *Chambers-Castanes* court examined two then-recent Court of Appeals decisions, including *Moloney*, that "purport[ed] to extend the doctrine of limited governmental immunity to *all* discretionary acts." *Id.* at 283. The Court disapproved of the *Moloney* Court's decision only on the discretionary immunity issue:

In both *Clipse* and *Moloney*, the Court of Appeals categorized the police conduct at issue as discretionary and failed to determine whether the challenged conduct involved a basic policy decision by an executive level officer, as required under *Evangelical*, *King*, and *Mason*. We now expressly disapprove of the two decisions to the extent they conflict with our prior case law and with the decision we announce today.

Chambers-Castanes, 100 Wn.2d at 283. This Court disapproved of *Moloney* only to the extent it allowed discretionary immunity to police officers in their regular police work.

Importantly, State Defendants here have not asserted discretionary immunity as a basis for dismissal.¹ Rather State Defendants have always

¹ The public duty doctrine does not apply to intentional torts such as tortious interference in any event. *Vergeson v. Kitsap Cty.*, 145 Wn. App. 526, 543-44, 186 P.3d 1140 (2008); *see also Leingang v. Pierce Cty. Med. Bureau, Inc.*, 131 Wn.2d 133, 157, 930 P.2d 288 (1997).

asserted their comments were privileged—an entirely different legal defense. And, contrary to Access's arguments, this Court has not disapproved of *Moloney* on the issue that *Stidham* cited it for: defamation and tortious interference "are subject to the defense of privilege." *Stidham*, 30 Wn. App. at 616.

This Court's decision in *Bender v. City of Seattle*, 99 Wn.2d 582, 590, 664 P.2d 492 (1983), also provides support for the principle that *Moloney* is still good law regarding privileges in defamation cases. In *Bender*, this Court further identified the extent to which it disapproved of *Moloney*.

Although police investigations and the disclosure of investigation information to the press are of a discretionary nature, we do not view those actions as the type of high level, policy-making decisions of a governmental entity that fall within the rule of discretionary governmental immunity. Instead, such conduct is more closely analogous to the type of discretion exercised at an everyday operational level, such as whether or not to engage in a high speed chase. . . . Thus, to the extent the Court of Appeals decisions in *Clipse* and *Moloney* purport to extend the limited doctrine of discretionary governmental immunity, we now expressly disapprove of those cases.

Bender, 99 Wn.2d at 589-90. This Court in Bender then discussed and approved privileges that apply in defamation cases. See id. at 599-602.

In sum, this Court has never disapproved of privileges that apply in defamation cases. *See id.* at 601 (defamation plaintiff must establish abuse

of any qualified privilege by proving defendant acted with knowledge or reckless disregard as to the falsity of a statement); accord Lillig v. Bectan-Dickinson, 105 Wn.2d 653, 658, 717 P.2d 1371 (1986). Because, as explained above, privileges that apply in defamation cases also apply in tortious interference cases, the privilege issue is entirely supported by this Court's precedent. The Court of Appeals below could have affirmed the dismissal of Access's tortious interference claim on this basis even though it did not. This Court should deny Access's Petition.

B. Access Did Not Assign Error to the Dispositive Issue: Its Failure to Raise Material Issues of Fact Regarding Its Tortious Interference Claim Against the State Defendants

The Court of Appeals below found it unnecessary to address the privilege issue because Access failed to present evidence of two elements of tortious interference. Access has waived and abandoned the right to review of that dispositive issue by choosing to not raise it in its Petition. *Fosbre v. State*, 70 Wn.2d 578, 583, 424 P.2d 901 (1967).

The Court of Appeals found "We conclude Access does not establish any genuine issue of fact regarding the third and fourth elements of its tortious interference claim" Slip Op. at 26. That unchallenged holding ends Access's appeal as to its last and final claim against the State Defendants. "[W]hen an appellant fails to raise an issue in the assignments of error, in violation of RAP 10.3(a)(3), and fails to present any argument

on the issue or provide any legal citation, an appellate court will not consider the merits of that issue." *State v. Olson*, 126 Wn.2d 315, 321, 893 P.2d 629 (1995) (emphasis in original). Therefore, even if Access's privilege argument had merit—which it does not—the Court of Appeals properly affirmed dismissal on the dispositive ground Appellants did not address, which is their obligation. *Id*.

Access failed to demonstrate issues of material fact to support a tortious interference claim. That deficiency is the sole basis for which the Court of Appeals affirmed. This Court should reject Access's invitation to render an advisory opinion on the privilege issue in a case that no longer presents a justiciable controversy regarding the tortious interference claim. *Bloome v. Haverly*, 154 Wn. App. 129, 140-41, 225 P.3d 330 (2010) (courts are generally prohibited from issuing advisory opinions on matters where there is no justiciable controversy). The Court should deny Access's Petition.

1. The Court of Appeals was correct that Access failed to prove the elements of its tortious interference action

The trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly ruled that Access failed to prove the elements of its tortious interference claim. Even if Access had raised this issue in its Petition, review of the sufficiency of the evidence issue is not warranted because under RAP 13.4 there is no split

of authority and there is no substantial interest in reviewing the Court of Appeals' fact-specific, and clearly correct holding.

Tortious interference has five elements: (1) a valid contractual relationship or business expectancy; (2) knowledge of that relationship by defendants; (3) intentional interference inducing or causing a breach or termination of the relationship or expectancy; (4) interference for an improper purpose or using improper means; and (5) damages. *Leingang*, 131 Wn.2d at 157; *Pleas v. City of Seattle*, 112 Wn.2d 794, 800, 803-04, 774 P.2d 1158 (1989). In order to survive summary judgment, a plaintiff must present factual evidence, not merely assertions or allegations, supporting each element of its claim. *Roger Crane & Associates, Inc. v. Felice*, 74 Wn. App. 769, 779, 875 P.2d 705 (1994). Access did not meet this burden.

a. No intentional interference causing a breach

"Exercising one's legal interests in good faith is not improper interference." *Tacoma Auto Mall, Inc. v. Nissan N. Am., Inc.*, 169 Wn. App. 111, 132, 279 P.3d 487 (2012); *accord Leingang*, 131 Wn.2d at 157. If a defendant asserts his or her own legally protected interest that he or she believes may be impaired by a proposed transaction, there is no tortious interference. *Tacoma Auto Mall*, 169 Wn. App. at 132 (citing *Birkenwald Distrib. Co. v. Heublein, Inc.*, 55 Wn. App. 1, 10,

776 P.2d 721 (1989); and *Brown v. Safeway Stores Inc.*, 94 Wn.2d 359, 375, 617 P.2d 704 (1980)).

"A privilege to interfere may be established if the interferor's conduct is deemed justifiable" Cherberg v. Peoples Nat'l Bank of Wash., 88 Wn.2d 595, 604-05, 564 P.2d 1137 (1977). "Interference is justified as a matter of law if the interferer has engaged in the exercise of an absolute right equal or superior to the right which was invaded." "Tacoma Auto Mall, 169 Wn. App. at 133 (quoting Plumbers & Steamfitters Union Local 598 v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys., 44 Wn. App. 906, 920, 724 P.2d 1030 (1986)). That is the case here.

Access has presented no evidence of any "interference" other than concerns the State Defendants expressed about Access's investors in the presence of the underwriters and Co-Defendants who were working with the State. The record demonstrates State Defendants were appropriately wary for three principal reasons.

First, the State Defendants did not understand how a state bond could satisfy the requirements of the EB-5 program, because there is very little risk in purchasing highly rated (AA+) Washington State bonds and did not create any jobs. CP 1029, 1112-13. Evidence that investors have placed capital at risk and that the investment will create jobs are requisite qualifying features of EB-5 investments. 8 C.F.R. § 204.6.

Second, the State Defendants were appropriately concerned Access's EB-5 plan could produce market instability. If the federal government rejected the state bonds purchase as a qualifying investment under the EB-5 program, those bonds might be dumped into the market, to the detriment of the State's entire bond portfolio. CP 1029-30, 1112, 1115.

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